## **RECEIVED**

04-28-2014

## CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2014AP000304-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

RICHARD L. WEBER,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From a Pretrial Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress Evidence Entered in the Circuit Court for Wood County, the Honorable Gregory J. Potter Presiding

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KATIE R. YORK Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1066231

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-7125 yorkk@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

## **

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I. Seconds before Mr. Weber entered his driveway, Deputy Dorshorst turned on his lights to stop Mr. Weber for a defective brake light. The deputy then followed Mr. Weber into his driveway as Mr. Weber parked in his attached garage. When Mr. Weber went towards the door to his house instead of towards the squad car, was the deputy's subsequent warrantless entry into the curtilage of Mr. Weber's home - the attached garage - justified by exigent circumstances?

The circuit court concluded because Mr. Weber failed to comply with the stop for the brake light, there was probable cause for an obstruction and that was the offense the court relied on to conclude the entry was reasonable because it was a "hot pursuit."

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither argument nor publication is requested. While undersigned counsel believes that the parties' briefs will be adequate to address the issues, if this court would find oral argument helpful, counsel would welcome the opportunity to present argument.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Wood County charged Richard L. Weber with operating while intoxicated - tenth offense, possession of THC, possession of drug paraphernalia, and resisting an officer. (1). Mr. Weber filed a motion to suppress evidence based on an unlawful arrest (12) and a motion to collaterally attack a prior operating while intoxicated conviction (11). The court granted the collateral attack motion but denied the motion to suppress. (35; App. 137-142). The court's denial of the motion to suppress is the subject of this appeal.

After the court denied Mr. Weber's suppression motion, he entered no contest pleas to operating while intoxicated - ninth offense, possession of THC, and resisting. (36:22). The court gave Mr. Weber a prison sentence for the operating while intoxicated, consisting of four years initial confinement and four years extended supervision. (37:12). On the remaining misdemeanor counts the court ordered costs only. (37:12). Mr. Weber subsequently filed a postconviction motion alleging the court did not exercise its discretion when it ordered a \$250 DNA surcharge. (26). The court granted the motion and deleted the surcharge. (29). Mr. Weber then filed a notice of appeal to address the court's denial of his suppression motion. (28).

### Suppression Hearing

On April 20, 2012, Deputy Calvin Dorshorst saw Mr. Weber driving with a "defective high mounted brake light." (34:4; App. 106). It is the brake light in the rear

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> When compiling the appendix, counsel realized she did not have a judgment of conviction for the misdemeanor offenses. The court faxed a judgment of conviction signed on April 28, 2014. It is included in the appendix.

window. (34:4-5; App. 106-107). Deputy Dorshorst activated his emergency lights when Mr. Weber was "maybe 100 feet prior to his driveway." (34:5; App. 107). Mr. Weber turned into his driveway and drove into his garage, which is attached to his house. (34:5, 10; App. 107, 112). The deputy followed Mr. Weber and parked his vehicle about 15 to 20 feet behind Mr. Weber's car. (34:6-7; App. 108-109).

As Deputy Dorshorst was getting out of his car, Mr. Weber exited his vehicle. (34:7; App. 109). When Deputy Dorshorst first exited he did not say anything to Mr. Weber. (34:7; App. 109). Instead, he ran to Mr. Weber's garage door so he could see Mr. Weber. (34:8; App. 110). Deputy Dorshorst saw Mr. Weber walk towards the door to his house, which is at the top of a set of steps. (34:8, 16; App. 110, 118).

When Deputy Dorshorst saw Mr. Weber going towards the door, he entered the garage and told Mr. Weber he needed to speak with him. (34:8-9; App. 110-111). The deputy entered the garage as he was telling Mr. Weber he needed to speak with him. (34:9; App. 111). At that point, Mr. Weber was nearing the top of the steps to his house. (34:16; App. 118). When Mr. Weber reached the top and began opening the door, the deputy made physical contact with Mr. Weber and prevented him from entering his house. (34:8-10; App. 110-112). Deputy Dorshorst secured Mr. Weber's arm as Mr. Weber stepped in the doorway. (34:17-18; App. 119-120). Mr. Weber ended up entirely in the house. (34:18; App. 120).

When Deputy Dorshorst made contact with Mr. Weber he told Mr. Weber the reason he was stopping him was for his high mounted brake lamp. (34:10-11; App. 112-113). He then told Mr. Weber again that is why he needed to speak with him and asked him to go to the car so he "could point out exactly

the reason from the stop and which light was defective." (34:11; App. 113).

When the prosecutor asked Deputy Dorshorst if he observed anything before he entered the garage that would suggest Mr. Weber was driving while intoxicated, the deputy stated Mr. Weber drove over the white fog line. (34:11; App. 113). When Mr. Weber was in the garage, the deputy noticed him walking slowly and somewhat staggering. (34:11-12; App. 113-114). It was only after the deputy entered the garage that he noticed slurred speech, an odor of intoxicants, and glassy, bloodshot eyes. (34:12, 20; App. 114, 122). Mr. Weber also admitted to drinking after the deputy entered the garage. (34:12; App. 114). When Deputy Dorshorst told Mr. Weber he was not free to leave Mr. Weber pushed his head into the deputy's chest. (34:13-14; App. 115-116). The officer secured his arm but Mr. Weber continued to resist. (34:14; App. 116).

Deputy Dorshorst then asked for consent to search Mr. Weber's car and he consented. (34:14; App. 116). The deputy found a tinfoil square with a green leafy substance that tested positive for THC and a metal pipe. (34:14-15; App. 116-117).

However, Deputy Dorshorst testified that he would not have noticed glassy eyes, slurred speech, or an odor of intoxicants if he had not entered the garage. (34:20; App. 122). He also testified that he would not have been able to obtain consent for the search had he not entered the garage. (34:21; App. 123).

When the state made its arguments at the suppression hearing, it conceded that the garage is considered part of the home for Fourth Amendment purposes. (34:28; App. 130). The state argued Deputy Dorshorst was in "hot pursuit" of

Mr. Weber and that satisfied the exigent circumstances requirement, justifying the warrantless entry. (34:23; App. 125). However, the state admitted for the warrantless entry to be constitutionally sound, the deputy needed to be pursuing Mr. Weber for a "jailable" offense. (34:25; App. 127). The state conceded a defective brake light is not a jailable offense but then argued when the officer had his lights on and stated he needed to talk to Mr. Weber, it turned into an obstruction, which is a jailable offense. (34:26; App. 128).

The defense argued the only reason for the stop was because of a defective brake light and that did not justify Deputy Dorshorst's entry into the attached garage because the traffic stop did not create exigent circumstances. (34:28-29; App. 130-131). Defense counsel also pointed out that not coming out of someone's home at an officer's direction is not obstruction. (34:33; App. 135). "If they want to go and get him, they must have a warrant to do so." (34:33; App. 135).

The court concluded the deputy had probable cause for a stop because of the defective brake light and weaving over the fog line. (35:9; App. 140). It concluded that the deputy also had probable cause to arrest Mr. Weber for obstruction based upon his noncompliance with the deputy's visual and verbal commands. (35:10-11; App. 141-142). The court explained its decision to deny the motion as follows:

I find that the deputy had probable cause and authority to stop the defendant; that when the defendant failed to comply, the basis of a crime occurred giving the deputy probable cause that a crime was being committed and that resulted in exigent circumstances arising to hot and fresh pursuit which allowed the deputy to perform a warrantless search.

(35:11; App. 142).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Deputy Dorshorst Did Not Have Exigent Circumstances to Enter the Curtliage of Mr. Weber's Home Without a Warrant Because He Was Not Pursuing Mr. Weber for a Jailable Offense, Therefore, the Deputy's Entry Was Constitutionally Unreasonable and All Fruits of the Entry Should Be Suppressed.

#### A. Introduction and Standard of Review.

Seconds before Mr. Weber entered his driveway, Deputy Dorshorst turned on his lights to stop Mr. Weber for a defective brake light. Mr. Weber turned into his driveway and pulled into the attached garage. When Mr. Weber went towards the door to his house rather than towards the squad car, Deputy Dorshorst entered the garage, which was within the curtilage of Mr. Weber's home, and physically pulled Mr. Weber from the doorway of his house. Since Deputy Dorshorst entered the curtilage of Mr. Weber's home, without a warrant, his entry can only be justified if he had exigent circumstances related to a jailable offense. *State v. Smith*, 131 Wis. 2d 220, 228, 388 N.W.2d 601 (1986) (abrogated in part by *State v. Felix*, 2012 WI 36, 339 Wis. 2d 670, 811 N.W.2d 775)<sup>2</sup>; *State v. Ferguson*, 2009 WI 50, ¶ 29, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187.

As will be seen herein, Deputy Dorshorst pursued Mr. Weber because of a defective brake light, a nonjailable offense. The state's claim that Deputy Dorshorst pursued

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> *Felix* abrogated *Smith* only as it relates to the fruits of the unconstitutional arrest. *Felix* held an arrest violating the Fourth Amendment did not warrant exclusion of a signed written statement or buccal swab given at the police station following the arrest.

Mr. Weber for an obstruction, even though the deputy never made such an allegation, cannot save the deputy's constitutionally invalid entry because the pursuit was the alleged obstruction. If the state's reasoning was true, any pursuit for a nonjailable offense would qualify as a "hot pursuit." That is not the case. When balancing the urgency of Deputy Dorshorst's need to enter because of a defective brake light against the time needed to obtain a warrant (or in this case mail a citation or warning), it is clear no exigent circumstances exist. Thus, the state cannot overcome the presumption that a warrantless entry is constitutionally unreasonable.

The issue here: whether the officer violated Mr. Weber's Fourth Amendment rights when he entered Mr. Weber's attached garage, without a warrant, and physically prevented Mr. Weber from entering his home, is a mixed question of law and fact. *State v. Rodriquez*, 2001 WI App 206, ¶ 6, 247 Wis. 2d 734, 634 N.W.2d 844. The circuit court's factual findings can only be overturned if they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* However, the reviewing court independently determines whether the historical or evidentiary facts justify a warrantless entry. *Id.* 

#### B. Relevant Law.

The Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement, for searches and seizures, is a "fundamental safeguard" against unnecessary invasions into people's homes. *Id.* at ¶ 8. "The Fourth Amendment stands for the right of a person to retreat into his/her own home and there be free from unreasonable governmental intrusion." *Id.* (citing Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 589-90 (1980)).

As the state conceded at the suppression hearing (34:28; App. 130), an attached garage is within the curtilage of the home. *State v. Davis*, 2011 WI App 74, ¶ 12, 333 Wis. 2d 490, 498, 798 N.W.2d 902. Therefore, an individual is afforded the same Fourth Amendment protections in his home and the attached garage. *Id.* at ¶ 9 (*citing Oliver v. United States*, 466 U.S. 170 (1984)).

"[A]ll warrantless searches and seizures within the home are presumptively unreasonable." *State v. Kryzaniak*, 2001 WI App 44, ¶ 15, 241 Wis. 2d 358, 624 N.W.2d 389 (citing Welsh v. Wisconsin, 466 U.S. 740, 748-49 (1984)). They are "per se unreasonable under the fourth amendment, subject to a few carefully delineated exceptions' that are 'jealously and carefully drawn." *Rodriquez*, 247 Wis. 2d 734, ¶ 8 (quoting Kryzaniak, 241 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 14). "It is axiomatic that the 'physical entry of the home is the chief evil against which the wording of the Fourth Amendment is directed." *Id.* (quoting Welsh, 466 U.S. at 748).

Accordingly, a warrantless entry into someone's home or its curtilage can only be considered reasonable under the Fourth Amendment if the state proves there was (1) probable cause to arrest and (2) exigent circumstances. *Smith*, 131 Wis. 2d at 228. The state bears "a heavy burden" of trying to demonstrate exigent circumstances to overcome the presumption of unreasonableness. *Kryzaniak*, 241 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 16 (citation omitted).

#### 1. Hot Pursuit.

At the suppression hearing, the state argued "hot pursuit" as justification for Deputy Dorshorst's warrantless entry. As will be explained below, "hot pursuit" is part of the exigent circumstances analysis. In this case it is best to start

the analysis with the origin of the "hot pursuit" and "exigent circumstances" doctrines.

The United States Supreme Court first recognized "hot pursuit" as an exception to the warrant requirement in *Warden v. Hayden*, 387 U.S. 294 (1967). In *Hayden*, an armed man robbed a cab company. *Id.* at 297. Two cab drivers followed him and called the police. *Id.* They told the police which home the person entered. *Id.* The police arrived in less than five minutes and entered after a knock and announce.<sup>3</sup> *Id.* at 297-98. The officers found the suspect, weapons, and clothing similar to what the perpetrator was wearing. *Id.* at 298. The Court concluded,

The Fourth Amendment does not require police officers to delay in the course of an investigation if to do so would *gravely endanger their lives or the lives of others*. Speed here was essential, and only a thorough search of the house for persons and weapons could have insured that Hayden was the only man present and that the police had control of all weapons which could be used against them or to effect an escape.

#### *Id.* at 298-99 (emphasis added).

The Supreme Court continued the "hot pursuit" doctrine in *United States v. Santana*, 427 U.S. 38 (1976). In *Santana*, an undercover officer arranged a heroin "buy" with Patricia McCafferty. *Id.* at 39. McCafferty and the undercover officer drove to Santana's residence and McCafferty went inside. *Id.* at 40. When she returned to the car and gave the undercover officer the heroin, he arrested her. *Id.* She told the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The woman who answered did not object to the officers searching, however, the court did not resolve whether consent justified the search because it concluded the officers were justified in entering on other grounds. *Id.* at fn 4.

officers Santana had the money so the officers went back to Santana's residence. *Id.* Upon arrival, Santana was at the door. *Id.* The police got out yelled police and Santana went into the vestibule of her house. *Id.* The officers entered, arrested her and found the marked money. *Id.* at 40-41.

The Court concluded the case involved a "true 'hot pursuit" and the need to act quickly was greater than *Hayden*. *Id.* at 42. "Once Santana saw the police, there was likewise a realistic expectation that any delay would *result in destruction of evidence." Id.* at 43 (emphasis added).

However, in *Welsh v. Wisconsin*, the court concluded "hot pursuit" did not justify the warrantless entry. 466 U.S. 740 (1984). In *Welsh*, the officer entered Welsh's home to arrest him minutes after a witness observed him in an intoxicated condition flee from a car he had been driving erratically. *Id.* at 742-43. The Court concluded "the claim of hot pursuit is unconvincing because there was no immediate or continuous pursuit of the petitioner from the scene of a crime." *Id.* at 753.

As these early hot pursuit cases illustrate, the pursuit must provide a justification for overcoming the presumption of unreasonableness. In *Hayden*, the pursuit was necessary for officer and public safety. In *Santana*, the pursuit was necessary to prevent evidence destruction. On the other hand, in *Welsh* hot pursuit did not apply because the officers were not pursuing the defendant from the scene of a crime.

As such, "hot pursuit" is defined as an "immediate or continuous pursuit of [a suspect] from the scene of a crime." *Kryzaniak*, 241 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 17 (citation omitted). There must be continuity of the pursuit. *Id.* 

#### 2. Exigent Circumstances.

Hot pursuit is among the factors considered in determining whether "exigent circumstances" justify a warrantless entry. *Smith*, 131 Wis. 2d at 229. Exigent circumstances should be evaluated based on "a flexible test of reasonableness under the totality of the circumstances." *Id.* 

The exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement considers "[u]ndue delay in procuring a warrant in conjunction with *danger to life, risk of evidence destruction, or likelihood of escape.*" *Smith*, 131 Wis. 2d at 231 (emphasis added). The urgency of an officer's need to enter is balanced against the time needed to obtain a warrant. *Rodriquez*, 247 Wis. 2d 734, ¶ 17.

There are four factors that have been identified that, when weighed against the time needed to obtain a warrant, constitute exigent circumstances required for a warrantless entry. These factors are:

(1) an arrest made in "hot pursuit"; (2) a threat to the safety of a suspect or others; (3) a risk that evidence would be destroyed; and (4) a likelihood that the suspect would flee.

#### *Id.* at ¶ 9 (quoting **Smith**, 131 Wis. 2d at 229).

Therefore, before an officer can enter someone's home or its curtilage without a warrant, the officer must have probable cause and exigent circumstances. *Smith*, 131 Wis. 2d at 228.

#### 3. Jailable Offense.

Exigent circumstance can justify a warrantless entry only if it is the result of an alleged illegal act. The question becomes what type of offense is serious enough to allow the government to intrude upon the sanctity of someone's home and its curtilage. As will be seen herein, the police cannot use exigent circumstances to justify a warrantless entry for all law violations. It has long been established that if the government's interest is only to arrest for a minor offense, then the presumption of unreasonableness is difficult to rebut. *Kryzaniak*, 241 Wis. 2d 358, ¶21.

Previously, courts permitted warrantless home arrests for "major felonies" if there were exigent circumstances. *Welsh*, 466 U.S. at 752. The *Welsh* Court aptly explained why a finding of exigent circumstances justifying a warrantless home entry should be "severely restricted" when only a minor offense has been committed:

Whether there is reasonable necessity for a search without waiting to obtain a warrant certainly depends somewhat upon the gravity of the offense thought to be in progress as well as the hazards of the method of attempting to reach it... It is to me a shocking proposition that private homes, even quarters in a tenement, may be indiscriminately invaded at the discretion of any suspicions police officer engaged in following up offenses that involved no violence or threats of it. While I should be human enough to apply the letter of the law with some indulgence to officers acting to deal with threats of crimes of violence which endanger life or security, it is notable that few of the searches found by this Court to be unlawful dealt with that category of crime ... I do not think ... suppression is more important to society than the security of the people against unreasonable searches and seizures. When an

officer undertakes to act as his own magistrate, he ought to be in a position to justify it by pointing to some *real immediate and serious consequence* if he postponed action to get a warrant.

#### *Id.* at 750-51 (emphasis added).

Admittedly, Wisconsin has taken a broad view when deciding what constitutes a minor offense under *Welsh*. The Wisconsin Supreme Court, in *Ferguson*, concluded *Welsh* did not create a felony/misdemeanor distinction for finding exigent circumstances. 317 Wis. 2d 586, ¶ 28. It concluded the penalty was the critical factor in determining whether the underlying offense could support a finding of exigency. *Id.* Therefore, it concluded in evaluating whether a warrantless entry is justified by exigent circumstances, courts should consider whether the underlying offense is "jailable or nonjailable." *Id.* at ¶ 29.

Therefore, the issue here is whether Deputy Dorshorst's warrantless entry can be justified due to exigent circumstances related to a jailable offense.

#### C. Application of Facts.

The state alleged "hot pursuit" as justification for Deputy Dorshorst's warrantless entry. (34:26; App. 128). It never argued the remaining three factors listed in *Smith* (safety risk, destruction of evidence, or fleeing) applied, nor could it. Deputy Dorshorst attempted to stop Mr. Weber because he had a defective brake light. (34:4; App. 106). As the state conceded, a nonjailable traffic violation, like this, cannot justify a governmental intrusion into someone's home or its curtilage. (34:26; App. 128).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The state conceded that the attached garage was part of the home's curtilage. (34:28; App. 130).

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