# RECEIVED

08-26-2016

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2014AP304-CR

## STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

RICHARD L. WEBER,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District IV, Reversing an Order Denying a Motion to Suppress Evidence and Remanding with Direction to Permit Plea Withdrawal, Entered in Wood County Circuit Court, the Honorable Gregory J. Potter, Presiding

> AMENDED RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> > KARA L. MELE Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081358

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

#### ARGUMENT

The State Failed to Meet its Burden of Establishing That Deputy Dorshorst's Warrantless Entry Into Mr. Weber's Garage<sup>2</sup> Was Justified By the Exigent Circumstances Exception to the Warrant Requirement Because There Was No Compelling Need for Official Action and There Was Ample Time to Get a Warrant. Therefore, the Deputy's Entry Was Constitutionally Unreasonable and All Fruits of the Entry Must Be Suppressed.

A. Introduction and standard of review.

Seconds before Mr. Weber entered his driveway, Deputy Dorshorst turned on his lights to stop Mr. Weber for a defective brake lamp. Mr. Weber turned into his driveway and pulled into the attached garage. When Mr. Weber walked toward the door to his house rather than toward the squad car, Deputy Dorshorst entered the garage, which was within the curtilage of Mr. Weber's home, and physically pulled Mr. Weber from the doorway of his house. Since Deputy Dorshorst entered the curtilage of Mr. Weber's home without a warrant, his entry can only be permitted if he reasonably believed that he was confronted with an emergency. *State v. Smith*, 131 Wis. 2d 220, 228, 388 N.W.2d 601

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The state properly concedes that Mr. Weber's attached garage constitutes curtilage that is considered a part of the home for Fourth Amendment purposes. *See State v. Dumstrey*, 2016 WI 3, ¶35, 366 Wis. 2d 64, 873 N.W.2d 502; *Florida v. Jardines*, \_\_\_U.S. \_\_\_, 133 S.Ct. 1409, 1414 (2013).

(1986), *abrogated on other grounds by* **State v. Felix**, 2012 WI 36, 339 Wis. 2d 670, 811 N.W.2d 775. Neither the United States Supreme Court nor this court has held that pursuing someone for a traffic violation (or, as the state contends, a misdemeanor jailable offense) constitutes an emergency sufficient to permit a warrantless entry.

It is a long-standing legal principle that a genuine emergency situation may permit a warrantless search or seizure under the Fourth Amendment. The United States Supreme Court recently undertook an analysis of the emergency or "exigency" exception to the warrant requirement, stating in unequivocal terms that courts must evaluate each case of alleged exigency based on the totality of circumstances. *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 133 S.Ct. 1552, 1559 (2013). Heeding *McNeely's* instruction, this court was careful recently not to abandon the totality of the circumstances approach toward determining exigency in favor of a categorical exception to the warrant requirement in the context of warrantless blood draws. *State v. Parisi*, 2016 WI 10, \_\_\_ Wis. 2d \_\_\_, \_\_\_ N.W.2d \_\_\_\_.

This case presents the court with another opportunity to confirm that per se rules are entirely inconsistent with the fact-intensive nature of the reasonableness inquiry under the Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. The state is advocating for a per se exigency in a context that traditionally affords individual's the greatest constitutional protection: warrantless home entries. Specifically, the state seeks a ruling that it is categorically reasonable for law enforcement to conduct a warrantless home entry and arrest whenever there is "hot pursuit" of a suspect based on probable cause for a jailable offense. This court should decline the state's invitation to water down the Fourth Amendment's protection against unreasonable searches and seizures. A careful review of the exigent circumstances doctrine, including the circumstance of "hot pursuit" of a fleeing suspect, reveals that the state's position fails to comport with binding precedent. The jurisprudential landscape indicates that there are two requirements for exigent circumstances to justify a warrantless search or seizure: (1) a compelling need for official action; and (2) no time to secure a warrant. *McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. at 1559. These are standalone requirements—the Court in *McNeely* made clear that a "compelling need for official action" does not necessarily equate to "no time to secure a warrant." Thus, the test for exigent circumstances necessarily entails a case-by-case assessment of exigency.

To adopt the state's proposed per se exigency in this case is to ignore the above constitutional requirements. Rather than have courts consider all the facts and circumstances of a particular case involving "hot pursuit," such as the severity of the jailable offense and whether there was time to get a warrant, the state would have courts reduce the exigent circumstances analysis to a simple mathematical formula:

> "hot pursuit" + probable cause + any degree of jailable offense = reasonable warrantless invasion into the sanctity of the home.

That test defies not only United States Supreme Court precedent but common sense as well.

As the facts of Mr. Weber's case show, not every "hot pursuit" of a suspect based on probable cause for a jailable offense creates a true emergency that justifies a warrantless home entry. A holding to the contrary establishes that in these situations, the needs of law enforcement always outweigh the right to privacy. The United States Supreme Court has been quick to strike down such overgeneralizations in the past. *See Richards v. Wisconsin*, 520 U.S. 385, 388 (1997) (rejecting a categorical exception to the knock-and-announce requirement in felony drug investigations); *McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. at 1561 (rejecting a categorical exception to the warrant requirement in the context of warrantless blood draws for drunk-driving offenses).

Whether the warrantless entry into Mr. Weber's garage was justified by the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement and is therefore valid under the Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Richter*, 2000 WI 58, ¶26, 235 Wis. 2d 524, 612 N.W.2d 29. "The trial court's findings of evidentiary or historical fact will not be overturned unless they are clearly erroneous." *Id*. This court "independently determine[s] whether the historical or evidentiary facts establish exigent circumstances sufficient to justify the warrantless entry into the defendant's home." *Id*.

- B. Relevant legal principles.
  - 1. The general rule: the police need a warrant to effectuate a search or seizure in the home.

Both the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee citizens the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. Historically, when interpreting the Wisconsin Constitution's protections in this area, this court has followed the United States Supreme Court's lead. *Id.*, ¶27.

Consistent with the above approach, this court has recognized that all warrantless searches and seizures within the home are presumptively unreasonable. Smith, 131 Wis. 2d at 227-28 (citing Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573 (1980)). This presumption is rooted in the notion that "when it comes to the Fourth Amendment, the home is first among equals. At the Amendment's 'very core' stands 'the right of a man to retreat into his own home and there be free from unreasonable governmental intrusion."" Florida v. Jardines, U.S. , 133 S.Ct. 1409, 1414 (2013) (citation omitted). It is also a manifestation of the United States Supreme Court's preference that searches and seizures be conducted pursuant to a warrant. See William A. Schroeder, Factoring the Seriousness of the Offense into Fourth Amendment Equations-Warrantless Entries into Premises: The Legacy of Welsh v. Wisconsin, 38 U. Kan. L. Rev. 439, 447 n. 36 (1990).

That a warrant is generally required to perform a search or seizure in the home is not to be discounted as a mere "inconvenience to be somehow 'weighed' against the claims of police efficiency." *Riley v. California*, 573 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 134 S.Ct. 2473, 2493 (2014) (citation omitted). Rather, the warrant requirement "is 'an important part of our machinery of government." *Id*. This is because it allows a neutral and detached magistrate to make the call on whether certain facts warrant government intervention—not a police officer "engaged in the often competitive enterprise of ferreting out crime." *Id*. at 2482 (citation omitted).

2. The exception to the general rule: probable cause and exigent circumstances.

Given that the touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness, there are exceptions to the warrant requirement. *Id.* at 2482. In the realm of home entries, warrantless searches and seizures are permitted upon probable cause and exigent circumstances. *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967); *Payton*, 445 U.S. at 587-90. It is the state's burden to prove both. *Smith*, 131 Wis. 2d at 228.

a. The two-part test and the totality of the circumstances.

The exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement "applies when the exigencies of the situation make the needs of law enforcement so compelling that a warrantless search [or seizure] is objectively reasonable under the Fourth Amendment." *McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. at 1558 (citation omitted). The United States Supreme Court has described the exception as calling for an "emergency or dangerous situation," *Payton*, 445 U.S. at 583, where speed is essential. *See Warden v. Hayden*, 387 U.S. 294, 298-99 (1967); *United States v. Santana*, 427 U.S. 38, 42 (1976). Consistent with that description, the test for exigent circumstances requires: (1) a compelling need for official action; and (2) no time to secure a warrant. *Michigan v. Tyler*, 436 U.S. 499, 509 (1978) (citing *Warden*); *McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. at 1559. Wisconsin law is in accord. *Smith*, 131 Wis. 2d at 228 ("Warrantless entry is permissible only where there is urgent need to do so, coupled with insufficient time to secure a warrant.").<sup>3</sup>

Because exceptions to the warrant requirement are "'few in number and carefully delineated'... the police bear a heavy burden when attempting to demonstrate an urgent need that might justify warrantless searches or arrests." *Welsh v. Wisconsin*, 466 U.S. 740, 749-50 (1984) (citation omitted). It follows that in defending a warrantless search or seizure as reasonable, the state cannot simply check a box marked "imminent destruction of evidence" or "hot pursuit of a fleeing suspect" and call it a day. The reasonableness inquiry requires that each case of alleged exigency be evaluated on its own facts and circumstances. *McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. at 1559; *Riley*, 134 S.Ct. at 2494. Indeed, a totality of the circumstances approach toward determining exigency is the only way to avoid paying short shrift to the two-part test referenced above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Four circumstances are often cited as potentially giving rise to an exigency sufficient to justify a warrantless search or seizure: (1) "hot pursuit" of a fleeing suspect; (2) a threat to the safety of a suspect or others; (3) a risk that evidence will be destroyed; and (4) a likelihood that a suspect will flee. *State v. Richter*, 2000 WI 58, ¶31, 235 Wis. 2d 524, 612 N.W.2d 29. This is not an immutable list. *See Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 133 S.Ct. 1552, 1558-59 (2013); *United States v. Struckman*, 603 F.3d 731, 743 (9th Cir. 2010). Thus, to the extent that Wisconsin law mandates the presence of one of the above factors in order to establish exigency, *see State v. Smith*, 131 Wis. 2d 220, 230-31, 388 N.W.2d 601 (1986), it appears at odds with United States Supreme Court precedent. While any one of the above factors (or a combination thereof) may contribute to a finding of exigency, the totality of the circumstances nature of the inquiry precludes any "hard and fast" rules in this regard.

This point is best demonstrated by *McNeely*. There, the government argued that the natural metabolization of alcohol in the bloodstream presents a per se exigency that justifies a warrantless, nonconsensual blood draw in all drunk-driving cases. McNeely, 133 S.Ct. at 1556. The United States Supreme Court recognized that law enforcement has a compelling need to act in this context, as critical evidence of a serious crime diminishes by the minute. Id. at 1560-61. But the Court made clear that a compelling need to act does not necessarily equate to the additional requirement that there be no time to secure a warrant. Id. at 1561-63; see also Id. at 1571-72 (Roberts, C.J., concurring in part, dissenting in part). Recognizing that technological advancements "allow for the more expeditious processing of warrant applications, particularly in contexts like drunk-driving investigations where the evidence offered to establish probable cause is simple," the Court rejected the government's proposed per se rule. Id. at 1561-62. It held: "In those drunk-driving investigations where police officers can reasonably obtain a warrant before a blood sample can be drawn without significantly undermining the efficacy of the search, the Fourth Amendment mandates that they do so." Id. at 1561.

For purposes of this case, the takeaway from *McNeely* is two-fold. First, the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement is not amenable to per se rules in any context. *Id.* at 1559. Second, "technological developments that enable police officers to secure warrants more quickly, and do so without undermining the neutral magistrate judge's essential role as a check on police discretion, are relevant to an assessment of exigency." *Id.* at 1563.

Of course, *McNeely* was not novel in its determination that a variety of factors, including recent advancements to the warrant-application process, are relevant to an assessment of exigency. An additional factor that bears mentioning here is the gravity of the underlying offense for which the warrantless search or seizure is being made. *Welsh*, 466 U.S. at 753. In *Welsh*, a case involving a warrantless home entry and arrest for drunk driving, the United States Supreme Court endorsed a "common-sense approach" toward determining exigency, holding:

[A]n important factor to be considered when determining whether any exigency exists is the gravity of the underlying offense for which the arrest is being made. . . . [A]pplication of the exigent circumstances exception in the context of a home entry should rarely be sanctioned when there is probable cause to believe that only a minor offense . . . has been committed.

## Id.

Although there exists a circuit split on the question whether **Welsh** creates a felony/misdemeanor distinction for finding exigent circumstances, *see* **Stanton v**. **Sims**, 571 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 134 S.Ct. 3, 5 (2013), this court has wisely chosen to reject a bright-line rule that precludes a finding of exigency in a case involving a misdemeanor. **State v**. **Ferguson**, 2009 WI 50, ¶¶28-29, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187. In the spirit of the totality of the circumstances, the court in **Ferguson** held that an important factor for finding exigency is the penalty that attaches to the underlying offense—i.e., is the offense jailable or nonjailable? **Id**. A jailable offense might make it more likely that an exigency exists in a given case, whereas a nonjailable offense might make it less likely. Id., ¶¶28-30. This is exactly what the flexible test of reasonableness demands.<sup>4</sup>

It is critical that this court bear in mind the above legal principles when considering the propriety of the state's proposed per se rule regarding the doctrine of "hot pursuit," as the doctrine is a mere subset of the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement. More specifically, this court must ask: does a rule that precludes courts from considering all the facts and circumstances in a case of alleged exigency, such as the severity of the jailable offense and whether there was time to get a warrant, comport with the above precedent?

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